FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
4/16/2021 4:01 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/19/2021
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99684-9
(COA No. 37124-7-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

HAVEN SCABBYROBE,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory C. Link
Sara S. Taboada
Attorneys for Petitioner

Washington Appellate Project
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Haven Scabbyrobe asks this Court to accept review of a divided and published opinion, which the Court of Appeals issued on March 18, 2021. Ms. Scabbyrobe has attached a copy of this split opinion to this petition.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. To assess whether a court must suppress a pretrial identification, a court must first assess whether the showup procedure was unnecessarily suggestive. The police increase the suggestibility of a showup when they only include one person in the showup. The police exacerbate the suggestiveness of such a showup when a police officer stands next to the only person in the showup. Suggestibility is heightened even further when that person is in handcuffs. And the mere fact that the sole person in the showup is a person of color adds to the suggestibility, as many people impute criminal behavior to people of color.

(a) Jeffrey Huff identified Ms. Scabbyrobe who is Native American, as the person who attempted to steal his car. At the time of the identification, Ms. Scabbyrobe was standing next to a police officer in handcuffs, and she was the only person in the showup.

(b) Additionally, courts must assess whether the showup procedure the police employed was necessary. The police seized Ms. Scabbyrobe presumably pursuant to a *Terry*¹ stop. During the stop, the police could have taken Ms. Scabbyrobe's picture. The police also could have asked Ms. Scabbyrobe for her name and obtained a Department of Licensing photo to conduct a later showup with pictures of other individuals. No exigent circumstances warranted this showup.

The showup was unnecessarily suggestive.

2. When a person establishes a showup was unnecessarily suggestive, courts must next assess whether a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification exists.

(a) Courts employ the *Biggers* factors to determine the likelihood of misidentification. These factors include (1) the witness' ability to view the person at the time of the crime; (2) the witness' degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.

Mr. Huff briefly saw the culprit's face, but he was "pretty excited" at the time of the incident. He later claimed he was "100 percent" certain

¹ 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968).

Ms. Scabbyrobe was the culprit. But initially, Mr. Huff claimed the culprit was a Latina with long hair, but Ms. Scabbyrobe is Native American, and her hair was up instead of down. Mr. Huff claimed the culprit was wearing a black coat and carrying two backpacks, but Ms. Scabbyrobe was wearing shorts, and she was neither wearing a coat nor carrying a backpack. Ms. Scabbyrobe has a tattoo on her face, but Mr. Huff did not report to police that the culprit had a tattoo on her face.

A substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed.

(b) Our State constitution's due process clause provides even greater protection than the federal due process clause under certain circumstances. The *Biggers* factors do not account for the reality that neither a person's confidence in his identification nor a person's ability to view the culprit at the time of the incident bolster the reliability of a showup. The *Biggers* factors also do not account for the fact that cross-racial identifications present a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. This Court recently implored our courts and our legal community to work together to eradicate racism and unconscious bias.

Washington's due process clause requires clear indicia of reliability when admitting out-of-court identifications. These indicia must account for the fallibility of cross-racial identification, and it must accord

with our modern understanding of the reliability of eyewitness identification.

3. An attorney performs deficiently and prejudices her client when she does not file a meritorious motion to suppress evidence that would likely result in dismissal of the charges. Counsel for Ms. Scabbyrobe did not file a motion to suppress the out-of-court identification. Without the out-of-court identification, it is unlikely the State would have pursued the charges against Ms. Scabbyrobe, as no other evidence existed that Ms. Scabbyrobe tried to steal Mr. Huff's car.

Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Ms. Scabbyrobe.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Haven Scabbyrobe, a Native American woman, was running on the street when the police stopped her. Op. at 2-4. Ms. Scabbyrobe was wearing shorts and open-toe sandals, and she looked behind her as a police car approached her. Op. at 2. The officer in the police car stopped Ms. Scabbyrobe because he believed she fit the description of someone who recently tried to steal someone's car. Op. at 2, Dissent at 4. The officer also believed Ms. Scabbyrobe might be the culprit because he thought she was not properly clothed for the winter, and he believed her shoes did not suggest she was running for purposes of exercising. Op. at 2.

Shortly before the police detained Ms. Scabbyrobe, Jeffrey Huff called the police to report someone tried to steal his car. Op. at 2. Mr. Huff left his car running while he was inside his house, and as he looked outside, he saw his car backing away. Op. at 1. Mr. Huff ran outside to stop the driver and entered the front passenger door. Op. at 1. Mr. Huff yelled at the culprit and told her to “get the fuck out” of his car. RP 211. Mr. Huff said he was “pretty excited” when he saw the woman in his car. RP 211. Mr. Huff said the woman appeared shocked and scared. Dissent at 2. The woman said she was unable to get out of the car, as a mailbox blocked the driver’s seat from opening. Op. at 1. Mr. Huff commanded the woman to crawl over him and exit through the passenger door, and she acquiesced. Dissent at 2. When the woman looked through her pockets after exiting the car, Mr. Huff told her to stop or he would knock her out. Op. at 2. The woman hurriedly walked away. Op. at 2.

When Mr. Huff described the woman to the police, he described her as a Latina with long dark hair. Op. at 2. Mr. Huff claimed the woman was wearing a coat and carrying two backpacks, and he said the woman had a tattoo on her hand. Op. at 2. He did not describe the woman as having a tattoo on her face. Op. at 3.

The officer who responded to Mr. Huff’s 911 call drove him to the place where the other officer seized Ms. Scabbyrobe. Op. at 2. Mr. Huff

stayed in the police car while the other officer stood next to a handcuffed Ms. Scabbyrobe. RP 201, 203, 307-08, 310. Ms. Scabbyrobe was the only person in the showup.

Mr. Huff noticed Ms. Scabbyrobe was not wearing the same clothes, did not have a backpack, and her hair was up instead of down. Op. at 2. Additionally, Ms. Scabbyrobe has a tattoo on her face and her hand. Op. at 2-3. Nonetheless, Mr. Huff claimed he was “100 percent” confident Ms. Scabbyrobe was the woman who tried to steal his car. Op. at 3.

Counsel for Ms. Scabbyrobe did not file a motion to suppress the out-of-court identification. Yet at trial, counsel argued this case concerned a matter of mistaken identity. RP 202. The jury deliberated for several hours and arrived at an impasse. Op. at 4. The court directed the jury to continue deliberating, and the jury ultimately convicted Ms. Scabbyrobe. Op. at 4.

On appeal, Ms. Scabbyrobe argued her trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress the showup identification. Op. at 1. Two judges disagreed, concluding that, on the merits, the showup procedure was not unnecessarily suggestive and no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed. Op. at 5-9. Judge Fearing penned a forceful dissent. Dissent at 1-35.

D. ARGUMENT

The officer’s showup of Ms. Scabbyrobe was unnecessarily suggestive and presented a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

- a. A showup using a single, handcuffed person of color standing next to a police officer is highly suggestive.

Due Process requires the exclusion of out-of-court identifications that are unnecessarily suggestive and present a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §3; *Perry v. New Hampshire*, 565 U.S. 228, 238-39, 132 S. Ct. 716, 181 L. Ed. 2d 694 (2012). This requires courts to first examine the suggestibility of the showup. A suggestible showup is permissible only if the showup was necessary. *Perry*, 565 U.S. at 237-38.

Certain circumstances increase the suggestibility of a showup. Showing a single person rather than using a lineup is highly suggestible, and this practice “has been widely condemned.” *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293, 302, 87 S. Ct. 1967, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1199 (1967); *Simmons v. U.S.*, 390 U.S. 377, 383, 88 S. Ct. 967, 19 L. Ed. 2d 1247 (1968) (stating danger of suggestibility “will be increased if the police display to the witness only the picture of a single individual who generally resembles the person he

saw”); *accord Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 110, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1977).

Presenting a single person in handcuffs further increases the suggestibility of the showup. *U.S. v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 234, 87 S. Ct. 1926, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149 (1967); *cf. State v. Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020) (discussing inherent prejudice that results from placing restraints on a defendant). And placing the single person next to a police officer also heightens the suggestibility of the showup. *Perry*, 565 U.S. at 238.

Employing a showup where the subject is a member of a different race than the police officers and the person identifying the accused also increases the suggestibility of the showup. *Id.* at 238. This is exacerbated by the fact that many people—whether consciously or not—associate criminal behavior with people of color. *See Bailey Maryfield, M.S., Implicit Racial Bias*, Just. Research and Stat. Ass’n (Dec. 2018);² *see also Project Implicit*, Harvard.³

Furthermore, a suggestive showup is necessary and therefore admissible only if exigent circumstances are present necessitating the use of the suggestive showup procedure. For example, in *Stovall*, the United

² <https://www.jrsa.org/pubs/factsheets/jrsa-factsheet-implicit-racial-bias.pdf>.

³ <https://implicit.harvard.edu/implicit/selectatest.html> (last visited Apr. 14, 2021).

States Supreme Court concluded a showup was suggestive, as the police's showup consisted of a single, handcuffed Black man surrounded by police. 388 U.S. at 295, 302. Nevertheless, the Court affirmed because the witness to the crime appeared to be dying in the hospital, and the police needed to take quick action in order to receive an identification. *Id.* at 302. The court opined, "the police followed *the only feasible procedure* and took [the defendant] to the hospital room. Under these circumstances, the usual police station line-up, which [the defendant] now argues he should have had, *was out of the question.*" *Id.* (emphases added).

Here, the police only presented Ms. Scabbyrobe, a Native American woman, to Mr. Huff at the showup. The police handcuffed her, and an officer stood next to her while Mr. Huff identified her. Unlike in *Stovall*, no exigent circumstances existed. Mr. Huff was not dying or otherwise injured from the attempted theft. Dissimilar to *Stovall*, conducting this highly suggestive lineup was not the only feasible procedure. The police could have taken a picture of Ms. Scabbyrobe when they stopped her, or the police could have asked for her name and obtained her DOL picture. Such actions were not "out of the question," as they were in *Stovall*.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals found this highly suggestive and highly unnecessary showup was not unnecessarily suggestive. *Op.* at

5-7. This was in error, requiring this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- b. A substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed due to the inaccuracy between the complainant's initial description and Ms. Scabbyrobe's actual appearance at the time of the identification.

After someone establishes their showup was both suggestive and unnecessary, a court must examine if a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification exists. *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 196-97, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972). If a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification exists, due process requires the court to suppress the identification. *Id.* at 198.

To make this determination, courts assess five factors, which are commonly referred to as "the *Biggers* factors." *Id.* at 199; *see Op.* at 8. This includes (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the culprit; (2) the witness' degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the person; (4) the level of certainty the witness demonstrates at the showup; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the showup. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199-200.

Here, Mr. Huff viewed the culprit during the brief time he demanded she "get the fuck out" of his car, directed her to crawl over him, and threatened to "knock her out." RP 211; *Op.* at 2. Mr. Huff reported he

was “pretty excited” during this encounter. RP 211. However, his excitement at the time he viewed the culprit detracted from his ability to pay attention to her face or other features. Emotional experiences impair a person’s ability to remember details like a person’s facial features. Robin L. Kaplan et. al, *Emotion and False Memory*, 8 *Emotion Rev.* 1, 8 (Jan. 2016); *see also* Maria Konnikova, *You Have No Idea What Happened*, *The New Yorker* (Feb. 4, 2015)⁴ (describing studies that show that while emotional events are deeply encoded in our memory, the emotions of the event rather than the details are maintained in our memory). Indeed, Judge Fearing noted, “the witness must testify about an encounter with a total stranger under circumstances of emergency or emotional distress.” Dissent at 22. Consequently, factors one and two suggest a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed.

Mr. Huff’s description of the culprit and Ms. Scabbyrobe’s actual appearance were also at odds. Mr. Huff claimed the culprit was Latina, had her hair down, wore a coat, and carried two backpacks. Op. at 2. He said the culprit had a tattoo on her hand but said nothing of a tattoo on her face. Op. at 3. Ms. Scabbyrobe is Native American, was wearing her hair up, was wearing shorts without a coat, was not wearing any backpack, and

⁴ <https://www.newyorker.com/science/maria-konnikova/idea-happened-memory-recollection>.

has a tattoo on her face. Op. at 3. The inaccuracy between Mr. Huff's description versus Ms. Scabbyrobe's actual appearance also demonstrates a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed.

The fact that Mr. Huff claimed to be "100 percent certain" Ms. Scabbyrobe was the culprit despite the substantial inaccuracies and the fact that a relatively short period of time elapsed between the crime and the identification does not improve confidence in this showup. As Judge Fearing pointed out, numerous studies demonstrate that "the witness' degree of certainty in making the identification [is] a worthless indicator that he is correct." Dissent at 20. Moreover, because Mr. Huff was still under the stress of the attempted car theft, this likely distorted his identification. Consequently, the short time that elapsed between the incident and the identification further demonstrates a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed.

Even if this Court believes the *Biggers* factors do not demonstrate a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification, this Court should craft a different set of factors to protect a person's right to due process. "Our state constitution's due process clause provides even greater protection of individual rights in certain circumstances." *State v. Blake*, __Wn.2d__, 481 P.3d 521, 527 (2021). These factors should be congruent

with our modern understanding of memory and factors that both inhibit and increase the reliability of an out-of-court identification.

Notably, the *Biggers* factors do not account for fallibility of cross-racial identification. “Eyewitness who identify someone of a race other than their own tend to be especially unreliable.” Dissent at 26. More than one-third of wrongful convictions overturned by DNA testing were based on faulty cross-racial identification. *The role of race is misidentification*, Innocent Project (Aug. 11, 2008)⁵ This Court has implored our judicial system to “recognize that we all bear responsibility” in addressing racism, and “that we are capable of taking steps to address it, if only we have the courage and the will.” Dissent at 36.

This Court has recently and forcefully called on all in the legal system to address and correct the impact of racism in the justice system.

This Court said,

It is only by carefully reflecting on our actions, taking individual responsibility for them, and constantly striving for better than we can address the shameful legacy we inherit.

Wash. Sup. Ct., *Open Letter from Washington Supreme Court on Racial Justice 2* (June 4, 2020)⁶

⁵ <https://innocenceproject.org/the-role-of-race-in-misidentification/>.

⁶ <https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf>.

Cross-racial identification plays a significant role in imprisoning innocent people of color. This case presents this Court with the opportunity to do something about it.

This Court should seize that opportunity and accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

c. Counsel performed deficiently when she did not move to suppress the out-of-court identification.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee the accused the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685-87, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); *State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 97, 225 P.3d 956 (2010).

Reversal is required where counsel's deficient performance prejudices the individual. *Hinton v. Alabama*, 571 U.S. 263, 272, 134 S. Ct. 1081, 188 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2014). Counsel performs deficiently where counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. An attorney's failure to move to suppress damaging evidence can constitute deficient performance. *Madison v. State*, 278 So.3d 921, 927 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019).

For the reasons stated in this petition, Ms. Scabbyrobe's motion to suppress Mr. Huff's identification was meritorious, so counsel should have moved to suppress it. Indeed, at oral argument, counsel for the State implicitly conceded the showup was impermissibly suggestive. Op. at 7; Dissent at 1. The State's concession would have tipped the scales in Ms. Scabbyrobe's favor at a motion to suppress. Dissent at 15. And Judge Fearing plainly agreed the motion was meritorious.

Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Ms. Scabbyrobe. As discussed in the opinion and in this petition, no physical evidence supported this charge. Instead, the case hinged on Mr. Huff's identification of Ms. Scabbyrobe. Absent the out-of-court identification, it is unlikely the State would have even pursued charges against Ms. Scabbyrobe. Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Ms. Scabbyrobe.

This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Ms. Scabbyrobe respectfully requests that this Court accept review.