FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/16/2021 1:19 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 996849

(CoA No. 37124-7-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

HAVEN MARY SCABBYROBE, Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bret Roberts, WSBA #40628 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621 OFFICE ID: #91177

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

VI. ARGUMENT

The Court should deny Ms. Scabbyrobe's motion for discretionary review. She cannot establish that the Court of Appeals' reliance on the *Biggers* test was erroneous, or that its decision conflicts with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Similarly, Ms. Scabbyrobe cannot establish that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with any other decision of the

Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Ms. Scabbyrobe fails to show a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest because she has not shown that the show-up procedure was unnecessarily suggestive or so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). Simply put, she has not made a showing that a trial court would have granted her motion, so she cannot prevail on an appeal for ineffective assistance.

Defense counsel vigorously attacked the victim's identification of Ms. Scabbyrobe at trial. Any inconsistency between Ms. Scabbyrobe's appearance and the description given by the victim should be considered in the context of the weight of the evidence, not function as a bar to its admissibility. *See State v. Kinard*, 39 Wn.App. 871, 874 (1985) (citing *State v. Vaughn*, 101 Wn.2d 604 (1984); *State v. Gosby*, 85 Wn.2d 758 (1975)). The jury's guilty verdict indicates that the nature of the inconsistencies did not undermine the State's evidence of guilt.

Convictions based on eyewitness identification testimony following a pretrial identification procedure will only be set aside if the procedure used was "so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 196-97 (quoting *Simmons v. United States*, 390 U.S. 377, 384, 88 S.Ct. 967, 971, 19 L.Ed.2d 1247 (1968)).

A due process challenge to pretrial identification procedure is a two-step inquiry: "A defendant asserting that a police identification procedure denied him due process must show that the procedure was *unnecessarily* suggestive." *Foster v. California*, 394 U.S. 440, 442, 22 L.Ed.2d. 402, 89 S.Ct. 1127 (1969) (emphasis added); *State v. Booth*, 36 Wn.App. 66, 70 (1977). If such a showing is made, the court will then consider the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the suggestiveness created a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. *Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 116, 53 L.Ed.2d 140, 97 S.Ct. 2243 (1977).

A. The pretrial showup procedure was not unnecessarily suggestive.

"Showups held shortly after a crime is committed and in the course of a prompt search for the suspect have been found to be permissible." *State v. Booth*, 36 Wn.App. 66, 71 (citing *State v. Kraus*, 21 Wn.App. 388, 392 (1978); *State v. Medley*, 11 Wn.App. 491, 499 (1974)). "[T]he admission of evidence of a showup *without more* does not violate due process." *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 198, 34 L.Ed.2d 401, 93 S.Ct. 375 (1972) (emphasis added).

"[I]t is important to note that a prompt identification procedure frequently demonstrates good police procedure. A prompt identification procedure best guarantees freedom for innocent subjects." *State v.*

Bockman, 37 Wn.App. 474 (1984) (citing *Stovall v. Denno*, 833 U.S. 293, 302, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199, 87 S.Ct. 1967 (1967)). [T]he United States Supreme Court has recognized that juries can intelligently measure the weight of questionable identification testimony." *Id.* (citing *Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 116).

In her argument to the Court of Appeals, Ms. Scabbyrobe tried a failed analogy between the procedure in her case and a single-photograph identification procedure found to **not** be impermissibly suggestive by the United States Supreme Court in *Brathwaite*.

In *Brathwaite*, a detective observed a man from whom he bought drugs through a door open 12 to 18 inches at a distance of approximately 2 feet. 432 U.S. at 100. The duration of the encounter at the door was approximately 5-7 minutes, but the door was closed for some of that time. *Id.* After leaving the apartment complex where he bought the drugs from the person behind the door, the detective described the man to a colleague at the police station. *Id.* That colleague suspected that he knew who the detective was describing, and obtained a recent photo of the defendant from the records division. *Id.* Two days after the encounter at the doorway during the drug purchase, the detective looked at the single photograph provided by his colleague and identified the person shown as the person from whom he bought the drugs. *Id.*

In Ms. Scabbyrobe's case, Mr. Huff encountered her while she was trying to drive his vehicle away from his property. (VRP 204, 207). It was light outside. (VRP 223, 292). During the encounter, he was very close to her—in fact, she crawled over him to exit the vehicle while he was in the passenger seat. (VRP 213). After they both exited the vehicle, she remained at the scene for a time and Mr. Huff talked to her before she collected her two bags and fled. (VRP 213). Mr. Huff was attentive enough to Ms. Scabbyrobe during this conversation that he warned her against hostile action when he observed her rummaging through her pockets while standing nearby. (VRP 210-211). Mr. Huff had as good, or better, an opportunity to view the suspect as was present in *Brathwaite*.

As in *Brockman*, where the showup procedure was held not to be unnecessarily suggestive, Mr. Huff observed Ms. Scabbyrobe in close proximity during the incident in a well-lighted area. The trial record shows Mr. Huff was attentive during the showup procedure and observed Ms. Scabbyrobe from a reasonable viewing distance, and a very short time transpired between the time of the incident and identification. Moreover, Mr. Huff expressed one hundred percent (100%) confidence in his identification. *See Brockman*, 37 Wn.App. at 482.

Contrary to Ms. Scabbyrobe's Petition for Review, which relied on an erroneous and now-withdrawn factual assertion by the Court of Appeals, Ms. Scabbyrobe, was not shown to be handcuffed, patted down, visibly restrained, or in the presence of multiple officers when the showup was conducted. (VRP 307-08, 332-33). Significantly more prejudicial restraint settings have been found not to be suggestive. *State v. Guzman-Cuellar*, 47 Wn.App. 326, 336 (1987) (Showups are not necessarily suggestive even if the suspect is handcuffed and standing near a patrol car in the presence of numerous police officers) (citing *United States v. Hines*, 455 F.2d 1317 (D.C. Cir. 1971)).

Similarly, in *State v. Fortun-Cebada*, a single-suspect showup procedure was deemed not to be unduly suggestive, even though the defendant was in handcuffs in police custody, because the witness had ample time to observe the defendant, had a conversation with him, and identified him within minutes of the encounter. 158 Wn.App. 171, 241 P.3d 800 (2010). This Court should decline review because the Court of Appeals correctly observed that the showup procedure was not unnecessarily suggestive.

B. There is no "exigency requirement" to justify utilizing a showup procedure.

Ms. Scabbyrobe propounds a statement of law—that "a suggestive showup is necessary and therefore admissible only if exigent circumstances are present necessitating the use of the suggestive showup procedure,"

without any citation to legal authority stating that proposition. Br. of Petitioner, p. 8. *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967), is cited by Scabbyrobe as an "example" of this; but does not create an exigency rule. That *Stovall* Court merely observed that the victim's medical condition revealed that "an immediate hospital confrontation was imperative." *Stovall*, at 302.

The *Stovall* Court instructed that "a claimed violation of due process of law in the conduct of a confrontation depends on the totality of the circumstances surrounding it." *Id*. It noted that the exigency associated with the victim's medical condition made an immediate confrontation "imperative"—not that the confrontation must always be supported by an exigency. *Id*.

The State urges the Court to not accept review based on this invitation to conjure an "exigency requirement" for a pretrial identification procedure to comport with due process. The tests involves consideration of the "totality of the circumstances" and should remain unchanged. *See Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 116.

C. Even if deemed unnecessarily suggestive, the pretrial showup procedure did not create a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

"A suggestive procedure, such as a showup is not per se impermissibly suggestive." *Booth*, 36 Wn.App. 66, 70-71 (1983) (citing

Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199, ("[A]dmission of evidence of a showup without more does not violate due process.").

When analyzing an identification procedure to ascertain whether there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification requires a court to consider the following factors:

(1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness's degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation; and (5) the time between the crime and the confrontation.

State v. Linares, 98 Wn.App. 397, 401 (1999) (citing State v. Shea, 85 Wn.App. 56, 60 (1997); Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199-120.

In *State v. Barker*, 103 Wn.App. 893, 905 (2000), the court found that a lineup procedure was suggestive, but did not create a substantial likelihood of misidentification because the witness, who was specifically warned that the photomontage may or may not contain the picture of the suspect, had a good look at the suspect and only six days had elapsed between the incident and photomontage. *Barker*, at 906. In the instant case, fewer than 10 minutes passed between the time of the crime and confrontation. Op. at 9. As the Court of Appeals noted, "this factor favors admissibility." Op. at 9.

In *Kraus*, a showup procedure more suggestive than the instant case was found not to be impermissibly suggestive. 21 Wn.App. at 390. In *Kraus*, within a few minutes of an alleged robbery, the defendant was located a couple blocks away from the incident. *Id.* at 389-90. He was wearing a light jacket, but the original description of the suspect had mentioned a dark jacket. *Id.* The victim observed the officer detain and patdown the defendant before the showup procedure. *Id.* at 390. Regarding this showup procedure, which the court found not to be impermissibly suggestive, it wrote:

Here, Kraus was observed within a few minutes of the attempted robbery and approximately two blocks away. He entered a taxicab which stopped in the grocery store parking lot. Since Kraus was wearing a light jacket while the robbery suspect had been described as wearing a dark jacket, the officers were justified in taking Kraus back to the victim of the robbery for an attempted identification. The police procedure of attempting a prompt identification in the course of a search for the robbery suspect was not impermissibly suggestive.

Kraus, at 392 (both emphases added).

In terms of Mr. Huff's opportunity to view Ms. Scabbyrobe, he was very close to her during the incident and the area was well lighted. Regarding Mr. Huff's degree of attention to Ms. Scabbyrobe, nothing in the record reveals that anything divided his attention during the incident. The

record reflects that Mr. Huff was focused intently on her during the incident and paid her a high degree of attention as she sat next to him in the car, crawled over him to exit the vehicle via the passenger side door, and rummaged through her pockets during the portion of the encounter when both of them stood outside the vehicle.

During the prompt showup, the record does not support the claim that Ms. Scabbyrobe was in handcuffs, patted down, or surrounded by multiple officers. Mr. Huff expressed one hundred percent (100%) certainty that Ms. Scabbyrobe was the person who tried to steal his car; and he identified her during the trial itself.

All these factors weigh in favor of this Court's finding that the showup procedure, if suggestive at all, was not so impermissibly suggestive as to create a substantial risk of irreparable misidentification.

D. Because the pretrial showup procedure was not unduly suggestive, the in-court identification of Ms. Scabbyrobe was properly admitted.

"Where an in-court identification is challenged and there is no issue of impermissibly suggestive procedures, the question of reliability goes only to the weight of the testimony and not its admissibility. That is, the subject can be adequately explored on cross examination." *Kinard*, 39 Wn.App. at 874 (citing *Vaughn*, 101 Wn.2d 604 (1984); *Gosby*, 85 Wn.2d 758 (1975)).

Any inaccuracies of Mr. Huff's description were challenged vigorously by trial counsel for Ms. Scabbyrobe. The appellate record does not provide this Court with sufficient information about Ms. Scabbyrobe's outward appearance to evaluate the impact, in terms of accuracy or believability, of Mr. Huff's characterization of Ms. Scabbyrobe as Hispanic rather than Native American or his failure to observe her small facial tattoo. The jury, however, was able to view Ms. Scabbyrobe and apply its common experience and reasonableness to assess the weight to be given any purported discrepancies.

The Court should defer to the finder of fact and decline review. It need not speculate what reasonable people would conclude when presented with all the identification evidence. Like the alleged mischaracterization of her ethnicity, the differences in clothing, hairstyle, and belongings discussed at trial are not dispositive. Ms. Scabbyrobe could have easily removed her jacket and sweatpants to reveal the shorts and t-shirt she wore at the time of the showup; and her hair style could have quickly and easily been altered. She could have discarded the two backpacks to lighten her load while fleeing. Mr. Huff's identifications of Ms. Scabbyrobe, both at the showup procedure and at trial, were properly admitted into testimony for the jury to weigh credibility according to its role as the trier of fact.

E. The record does not reflect that racial bias, conscious or unconscious, played a meaningful role in this case; and the record is too undeveloped from which to fashion some new, race-based test for eyewitness identification.

Appellate counsel for Ms. Scabbyrobe attempts to make this case about race notwithstanding the fact that the Court of Appeals' majority opinion specifically noted,

[t]here is no evidence her arrest was tainted by implicit bias. The prosecutor's office properly charged Scabbyrobe based on the evidence. There is no evidence her charge was based on implicit bias. The jury consciously deliberated. There is no evidence the jury's verdict was tainted by implicit bias. There are no challenged evidentiary rulings, and the trial court setneced Scabbyrobe to just under the midrange sentence given the charge and her offender score. There is no evidence the trial judge's discretionary decisions were tainted by implicit bias.

Op. at 10, fn. 3.

Ms. Scabbyrobe suggests that the Court should accept review with a mind to abandon decades-old precedent in favor of a test that explicitly accounts for race when assessing whether a victim of a crime may be allowed to testify as to the identity of the person who committed the crime. This Court should decline this invitation to rewrite the law on eyewitness identification because there is no showing that this matter was tainted in any way by the purported infirmities of eyewitness identification.

The majority opinion from the Court of Appeals' decision remarked that the "proper remedy" for the "unknown facts" which concerned the dissent would be for Ms. Scabbyrobe to file a personal restraint petition. Op. at 5, fn. 1. The Court should deny review. The record is too undeveloped to accept review with a mind to rewrite the law of eyewitness identification. The Court of Appeals analyzed the extant trial record, free of speculation about what might have been, and rightly denied Ms. Scabbyrobe's appeal. The case should become final.

VII. CONCLUSION

The Court should decline review. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that defense counsel did not provide Ms. Scabbyrobe ineffective assistance of counsel by foregoing a pretrial motion to suppress Mr. Huff's testimony identifying Ms. Scabbyrobe as the perpetrator. The Court of Appeals could not find that the motion to suppress the identification of Ms. Scabbyrobe would have been granted if it had been filed. The showup procedure used in Ms. Scabbyrobe's case was not unnecessarily suggestive. The jury was capable of considering the alleged deficiencies in Mr. Huff's identification of Ms. Scabbyrobe and to determine what, if any, weight to be given to Mr. Huff's testimony that she tried to steal his car.